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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
To the Board of Trustees 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

Charleston, West Virginia 

Report on the Financial Statements  
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the enterprise 

funds and the fiduciary fund of the West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program (the 

“Program”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2015, which collectively comprise the Program’s 

basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 

includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 

and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error.  

 

Auditor’s Responsibility  
 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 

issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement.  

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinions. 

 

Opinions  

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 

respective financial position of the business-type activities of the enterprise funds and the fiduciary 

fund of the Program, as of June 30, 2015, and the respective changes in financial position and 

respective cash flows, thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 

Emphasis-of-Matter 

 

As discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the financial statements of the enterprise funds 

include investments valued at $66,439,523 (92.91% of total assets) as of June 30, 2015, whose fair 

values have been estimated by management in the absence of readily determinable fair values. 

Management’s estimates are based on valuations provided by the West Virginia Investment 

Management Board (the “WVIMB”) as the fair value of the enterprise funds’ share of the WVIMB 

public investment pools in which the funds participate.  

 

Additionally, as discussed in Note 11 to the financial statements, the Board of the Program voted to 

close the Prepaid Tuition Plan on June 30, 2022. Management's plans concerning this matter is also 

described in Note 11.  

 

Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters emphasized. 

 

Other Matters 

 

Required Supplementary Information 

 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 

management’s discussion and analysis and pension contribution information on pages 5-11 and 47-48 

respectively be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not 

a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements 

in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited 

procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 

accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 

methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 

management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 

obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 

any assurance on any of the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 

sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Other Information 

 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 

comprise the Program's basic financial statements. The Other Financial Information listed in the table of 

contents is presented for purposes of additional analyses and is not a required part of the basic financial 

statements of the Program.  

 

The Other Information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 

underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information 

has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 

certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 

underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 

financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 

generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Other Information is fairly stated, 

in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 30, 2015 

on our consideration of the Program's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 

compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 

The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 

and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over 

financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 

with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

October 30, 2015 
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As management of the West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program (the “Program”), we 

offer readers of the financial statements of the Program this discussion and analysis of the Program’s 

financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. We encourage readers to consider the 

information presented in this section in conjunction with the Program’s financial statements, including 

notes to the financial statements, which follow this section. 

Financial Highlights 

Total net position of the Program’s two enterprise funds decreased $4,137,160 for the fiscal year ended 

June 30, 2015. The actuarially funded ratio of the Prepaid Tuition Trust Fund, which is the primary 

enterprise fund for investing assets and paying benefits, was 85.0%. The actuarially funded ratio represents 

the ability of assets to fund liabilities and is calculated by dividing assets by liabilities. The ratio was 91.1% 

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014. The decrease in net position of the Prepaid Tuition Trust Fund was 

driven by less than expected investment returns. 

The investment portfolio of the Program’s enterprise funds had a 3.0% gain for the fiscal year, which 

followed on the heels of a 13.7% gain for the prior year and a 9.3% gain for the fiscal year ended June 30, 

2013.   

Net position of the Program’s fiduciary fund increased $32,744,942 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. 

The increase was driven by a $21,958,735 excess of contributions over redemptions and a net investment 

gain of $17,187,375. Net position of the fiduciary fund represents funds held in trust for individual 

investors, and, as such, is not available to support operations of the enterprise funds. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This report presents the operating results and financial status of the Program, which is composed of two 

enterprise funds and a fiduciary fund. The enterprise funds are the Prepaid Tuition Trust Fund (the “Prepaid 

Tuition Plan”) and the College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program Administrative Account (the 

“Administrative Account”). The enterprise funds’ financial statements are reported using the economic 

resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for governmental entities. The Program’s 

Savings Plan Trust Fund (the “Savings Plan”), is a fiduciary fund (private-purpose trust fund) and also is 

reported using the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with GAAP.   
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The State of West Virginia reports the combined Prepaid Tuition Plan and Administrative Account as 

enterprise funds of the Program and the Savings Plan as a fiduciary fund (private-purpose trust fund) of the 

Program in its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (“CAFR”). Enterprise fund reporting is used to 

report the functions of a governmental entity with business-type activities in which a fee is charged to 

external users for goods or services. Fiduciary fund reporting is used to account for resources held for the 

benefit of parties outside the governmental entity, and those resources are not available to support 

operations of that entity.  

The Statement of Net (Deficit) Position presents information on the enterprise funds’ assets and liabilities, 

with the difference between the two reported as either net position or net deficit. This statement is 

categorized into current and non-current assets and liabilities. For purposes of the financial statements, 

current assets and liabilities are those assets and liabilities with immediate liquidity or which are collectible 

or becoming due within 12 months of the statement’s date. The plan’s net (deficit) position also represents 

the actuarially funded level of the plan, and, over time, increases or decreases in net (deficit) position may 

serve as a useful indicator of whether the plan’s funded level or financial position is improving or 

deteriorating. 

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net (Deficit) Position reflects the operating and non-

operating revenues and expenses of the enterprise funds for the operating year. Operating revenues 

primarily consist of tuition contracts with major sources of operating expenses being tuition contract 

benefits and expenses and general and administrative expenses. Nonoperating revenues primarily consist 

of investment earnings/losses and appropriations from the State, which is the primary government. 

The Statement of Cash Flows is presented on the direct method of reporting, which reflects the enterprise 

funds’ cash flows from operating, noncapital financing, and investing activities. Cash collections and 

payments are reflected in this statement to arrive at the net increase or decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

for the year.  

The Statement of Fiduciary Net Position presents information on the fiduciary fund’s assets and liabilities, 

with the difference between the two reported as net position held in trust for individuals or organizations.   

The Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position reports the additions and deductions to the fiduciary 

fund for the year. Additions are composed of contributions by investors in the Savings Plan and net 

investment earnings. Deductions represent redemptions by investors and operating expenses of the fund. 
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Financial Analysis of the Prepaid Tuition Plan and Administrative Account 

Net (deficit) position. The following are combined, condensed Statements of Net (Deficit) Position of the 

enterprise funds, which are the Prepaid Tuition Plan and the Administrative Account, as of June 30, 2015 

and 2014. 

  2015  2014 

    

Current assets  $ 4,883,539   $ 2,879,574 

Noncurrent assets 66,623,016  77,421,154 

Total assets 71,506,555  80,300,728 

    

Deferred outflows of resources 38,263  - 

    

Current liabilities 16,819,031  16,523,890 

Noncurrent liabilities 65,575,658  70,405,138 

Total liabilities 82,394,689  86,929,028 

    

Deferred inflows of resources 129,072  - 

    

Net position (deficit):    

Restricted 1,283,210  995,737 

Unrestricted (12,262,153)  (7,624,037) 

Total net deficit  $ (10,978,943)   $ (6,628,300) 

 

The net deficit increased 65.6%, or $4,350,643. Net position is the excess of total assets and deferred 

outflows of resources over total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, and a net deficit occurs when 

liabilities and deferred inflows exceed assets and deferred outflows. While the actuarially funded status 

(assets and deferred outflows divided by liabilities and deferred inflows) of total enterprise funds was 86.8% 

at June 30, 2015 and 92.4% at June 30, 2014, the funded status of the Prepaid Tuition Plan at June 30, 2015 

and 2014, was 85.0% and 91.1%, respectively. The actuarially funded status represents the Prepaid Tuition 

Plan’s ability to fund payment of its liabilities as of the date on which the value of the assets and liabilities 

are measured. Actuarial funding ratios above 100.0% provide financial support during down times in the 

economy and lower earnings levels from the Prepaid Tuition Plan’s investment portfolio, and during brief 

periods of unexpectedly high increases in tuition costs. As the funding ratio decreases, the funding 

soundness level decreases, and as the funding ratio increases, the funding soundness level increases. 

Current assets represent cash and cash equivalents and short-term receivables.  Noncurrent assets represent 

investments and long-term receivables.  See Note 2 for a discussion of investments being reported as 

noncurrent assets.  Deferred outflows of resources relate to contributions to the state’s pension plan during 

the current fiscal year. Current liabilities represent short-term payables for administrative expenses and 

contract benefits.  Noncurrent liabilities represent long-term payables for administrative expenses and 

contract benefits. Deferred inflows of resources relate to the Program’s proportionate share of changes in 

the state’s pension plan net pension liability.  
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The increase in the net deficit was primarily the result of changes in actuarial assumptions that increased 

the estimated accrued contract benefits liability as of June 30, 2015, as well as lower than expected 

investment returns. Actuarial projections of investment returns for fiscal year 2016 and beyond were 

adjusted downward, resulting in an increase in liabilities related to accrued contract benefits and expenses, 

and a corresponding increase in the net deficit. Also, actuarial projections of future tuition growth were 

increased for fiscal year 2016 and beyond, also resulting in an increase in the same liabilities and net deficit. 

Changes in net (deficit) position. The following are condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses and 

Changes in Net (Deficit) Position of the enterprise funds for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014. 

 Year Ended June 30, 

  2015  2014 

Revenues    

Operating revenues:    

   Tuition contracts (See Note 5) $         19,889  $         40,243 

   Savings Plan administrative fee  1,329,262  1,238,753 

 1,349,151  1,278,996 

Nonoperating revenues:    

   Investment gain 2,043,580  9,650,488 

   Appropriations from primary government 73,207  147,390 

 2,116,787  9,797,878 

Total revenues 3,465,938  11,076,874 

Expenses    

Operating expenses:    

   Tuition contract benefits and expenses (See Note 5) 6,533,830  3,895,253 

   General and administrative expenses 1,069,268  1,028,116 

Total expenses 7,603,098  4,923,369 

Change in net position (4,137,160)  6,153,505 

Net deficit at beginning of year (6,628,300)  (12,781,805) 

Effect of adopting GASB 68 in Fiscal Year 2015 (213,483)  - 

Net deficit at beginning of year, restated (6,841,783)  (12,781,805) 

Net deficit at end of year $ (10,978,943)  $ (6,628,300) 

    

Operating revenues for the Prepaid Tuition Plan reflect the interest effect of discounting future contract 

payments receivable and include an administrative fee received from the administrators of the Savings Plan 

and deposited into the Program’s Administrative Account. As discussed in Note 11 to these financial 

statements, during fiscal year 2003 the West Virginia Legislature closed the Prepaid Tuition Plan to new 

enrollment.  Because of the closure, no new prepaid tuition contracts were sold during fiscal years 2014 

and 2015.  Nonoperating revenues represent investment earnings, appropriations from the primary 

government, and payments made by the primary government for other postemployment benefits premiums 

on behalf of the Prepaid Tuition Plan. Investment gains for fiscal year 2015 were $2,043,580 and the rate 

of return was 3.0%. For fiscal year 2014, the rate of return was 13.7%, resulting in an investment gain of 

$9,650,488 for that year. The Prepaid Tuition Plan’s finances are structured such that investment earnings 



West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 

 

 

9 

are an integral component of total revenues, and when the investment portfolio’s performance is less than 

expected, net position can decrease significantly. Operating expenses represent prepaid tuition contract 

benefits and expenses and general and administrative expenses. Prepaid tuition contract benefits and 

expenses were $6,533,830 and $3,895,253 for 2015 and 2014, respectively. Prepaid tuition contract benefits 

and expenses are affected by actuarial factors such as the assumed rate of return and tuition growth, which 

are discussed in the Economic Factors section later in this discussion and analysis as well as in Note 5 to 

these financial statements. As noted on the previous page, lower than expected investment returns and 

changes in the actuarially projected returns and tuition growth were unfavorable to the Program and 

increased the net deficit. 

Financial Analysis of the Savings Plan 

Net position. The following are condensed Statements of Fiduciary Net Position of the Savings Plan as of 

June 30, 2015 and 2014. 

 2015  2014 

    

Assets $  2,268,418,824  $  2,234,716,960 

    

Liabilities 3,585,852  2,628,930 

    

Net position  $  2,264,832,972  $  2,232,088,030 

 

Net position increased 1.5% or $32,744,942 during the current fiscal year. Net position is the excess of total 

assets over total liabilities.  The increase was driven by investment gains of $17,187,375 and a $21,958,735 

excess of contributions over redemptions. 

Investments make up 99.9% of total assets, and the remaining assets includes receivables for units and 

securities sold, and dividends receivable. Approximately 70.7% of liabilities consists of payables for 

securities purchased and units redeemed, and the remaining amount represents accrued fees and other 

payables. 
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Changes in net position. The following are condensed Statements of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

of the Savings Plan for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014. 

 Year Ended June 30, 

  2015  2014 

Additions    

Contributions $  203,787,404  $  213,781,061 

Net investment gain  17,187,375  310,218,758 

Total additions 220,974,779  523,999,819 

Deductions    

Redemptions 181,828,669  168,685,393 

Administrative expenses 6,401,168  5,880,235 

Total deductions 188,229,837  174,565,628 

Increase in net position 32,744,942  349,434,191 

Net position at beginning of year 2,232,088,030  1,882,653,839 

Net position at end of year $  2,264,832,972  $  2,232,088,030 

 

Contributions for the current fiscal year were relatively stable, decreasing only 4.7% from those of the prior 

year.  Redemptions increased 7.8% from the prior year.  Overall investment performance was weak for the 

current fiscal year; however, most of the various investment portfolios and funds that make up the Savings 

Plan had positive rates of return, ranging from a high of 17.4% to a low of (2.9)%.   

Administrative expenses for the Savings Plan represent charges related to investment management 

expenses; sales, marketing and distribution expenses; and other administration expenses. 

Economic Factors 

Prepaid Tuition Plan.  The actuarial valuation of tuition contracts receivable and accrued contract benefits 

liability as of June 30, 2015 is based on various actuarial assumptions. A key assumption is average tuition 

inflation of 8.5% for school years 2016-17 through 2021-22, when the Prepaid Tuition Plan closes June 30, 

2022. See the discussion of the closure below.   

The actual weighted average tuition for in-state, full-time students increased 7.8% from school years 2014-

15 to 2015-16, and increased 6.5% from school years 2013-14 to 2014-15. Another key assumption is a 

5.3% rate of return on Prepaid Tuition Plan investments for the upcoming fiscal year 2016 and through 

fiscal year 2017, and declining returns each year to 2022 when the assumption is 2.3%.  The plan’s actual 

rate of return on its investments was 3.0% for fiscal year 2015 and 13.7% for 2014. 

Long-term variances in the assumptions can affect the Prepaid Tuition Plan’s financial position. Program 

management, together with actuarial and investing consultants and the Program’s Board of Trustees (the 

“Board”), review the assumptions annually. Prepaid Tuition Plan management and its advisors believe that 

the key assumptions, while subject to sudden and unexpected changes in the future, were reasonable for the 

fiscal years ended June 30, 2015 and 2014.  
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As discussed in Note 11 to these financial statements, during fiscal year 2003 the West Virginia Legislature 

closed the Prepaid Tuition Plan to new enrollment. No new contracts were sold in fiscal years 2014 and 

2015.  The Prepaid Tuition Plan will continue in existence to service existing contracts and no current 

contracts will be affected by the closure.  

Also during fiscal year 2003, as discussed in Note 11 to these financial statements, the Legislature created 

the Prepaid Tuition Trust Escrow Account to guarantee payment of Prepaid Tuition Plan contracts. The 

Escrow Account will receive transfers of up to $1,000,000 from the State Unclaimed Property Trust Fund 

each year there is an actuarially determined unfunded liability of the Prepaid Tuition Plan. If the Prepaid 

Tuition Plan is unable to pay current tuition benefits, funds may be withdrawn from the Escrow Account to 

meet those payments. At June 30, 2015, there was $18,537,085 in the Escrow Account, which consisted of 

$17,254,008 in total transfers from the Unclaimed Property Trust Fund and net investment gains of 

$1,283,077.  There was a $1,000,000 transfer in fiscal year 2015 because of the actuarial unfunded liability 

at the end of fiscal year 2014.  Because there is an actuarially determined unfunded liability of $12,262,153 

in the Prepaid Tuition Plan at June 30, 2015, $1,000,000 is expected to be transferred from the Unclaimed 

Property Trust Fund to the Escrow Account on or before December 15, 2015, in accordance with the 

provisions enacted by the Legislature.  While the Board controls the Escrow Account, funds in the Escrow 

Account are not assets of either the Prepaid Tuition Plan or the Program and accordingly are not included 

in the basic financial statements included herein.  The State reports the Escrow Account in the general fund 

in its financial statements as unrestricted cash. 

Also discussed in Note 11 to these financial statements, the board voted in fiscal year 2015 to close the 

Prepaid Tuition Plan on June 30, 2022. All funds remaining at that time will be distributed either to account 

holders or to the West Virginia Unclaimed Property Division where account holders can claim their rightful 

funds at any time. All funds remaining in the Prepaid Tuition Escrow Account will be transferred to the 

state. 

Savings Plan. As an investment fund, the Savings Plan is subject to the same risks and consequent gains 

and losses as all publicly and privately offered investment funds. The Savings Plan is directly affected by 

all factors that affect the economic and investment arenas. Program management continuously monitors 

activity in the stock market as well as consulting regularly with its various investment advisors and analysts. 

Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Program’s finances. Questions 

concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information 

should be addressed to Finance Director’s Office, West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings 

Program, 1900 Kanawha Boulevard East, Charleston, WV 25305. 

* * * * * * 
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Prepaid Tuition 

Trust Fund 

 College Prepaid 

Tuition and 

Savings Program 

Administrative 

Account 

  

 

 

Total Enterprise 

Funds 

Assets      

Current assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents $       2,497,611  $     2,103,341  $      4,600,952 

Due from primary government  -  23,375  23,375 

Tuition contracts receivable 147,027  -  147,027 

Other receivables -  112,185  112,185 

Total current assets 2,644,638  2,238,901  4,883,539 

Noncurrent assets:      

Tuition contracts receivable 183,493  -  183,493 

Investments 66,439,523  -  66,439,523 

Total noncurrent assets 66,623,016  -  66,623,016 

Total assets 69,267,654  2,238,901  71,506,555 

Deferred outflows of resources      

Deferred outflows related to pensions -  38,263  38,263 

Total deferred outflows of resources -  38,263  38,263 

Liabilities      

Current liabilities:      

Accounts payable -  102,469  102,469 

Accrued contract benefits liability 16,542,226  -  16,542,226 

Accrued contract expense liability -  110,585  110,585 

Compensated absences -  63,751  63,751 

Total current liabilities 16,542,226  276,805  16,819,031 

Noncurrent liabilities:      

Accrued contract benefits liability 64,987,581  -  64,987,581 

Accrued contract expense liability -  284,489  284,489 

Other postemployment benefits -  209,795  209,795 

Net pension liability -  93,793  93,793 

Total noncurrent liabilities 64,987,581  588,077  65,575,658 

Total liabilities 81,529,807  864,882  82,394,689 

Deferred inflows of resources      

Deferred inflows related to pensions -  129,072  129,072 

Total deferred inflows of resources -  129,072  129,072 

Net (deficit) position      

Restricted for payment of general and administrative expenses -  1,283,210  1,283,210 

Unrestricted (12,262,153)  -  (12,262,153) 

Total net (deficit) position  $   (12,262,153)  $      1,283,210  $  (10,978,943) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Prepaid Tuition 

Trust Fund 

 College Prepaid 

Tuition and 

Savings Program 

Administrative 

Account 

  

 

 

Total Enterprise 

Funds 

Operating revenues      

Tuition contracts (See Note 5) $           19,889  $                   -  $           19,889 

Savings Plan administrative fee -  1,329,262  1,329,262 

Total operating revenues 19,889  1,329,262  1,349,151 

      

Operating expenses      

Tuition contract benefits (See Note 5) 6,701,585  -  6,701,585 

Tuition contract expenses -  (167,755)  (167,755) 

General and administrative expenses -  1,069,268  1,069,268 

Total operating expenses 6,701,585  901,513  7,603,098 

      

Operating (loss) gain (6,681,696)  427,749  (6,253,947) 

      

Nonoperating revenues      

Investment gain 2,043,580  -  2,043,580 

Appropriations from primary government -  73,207  73,207 

Total nonoperating revenues 2,043,580  73,207  2,116,787 

      

Change in net position (4,638,116)  500,956  (4,137,160) 

Net (deficit) position at beginning of year, restated 

for Administrative Account (See Note 6) 

 

(7,624,037) 

  

782,254 

  

(6,841,783) 

Net (deficit) position at end of year  $   (12,262,153)  $     1,283,210  $  (10,978,943) 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Prepaid Tuition 

Trust Fund 

 College Prepaid 

Tuition and 

Savings Program 

Administrative 

Account 

  

 

 

Total Enterprise 

Funds 

Cash flows from operating activities      

Cash received from contract purchasers $        223,843  $                    -  $     223,843 

Cash received from Savings Plan 

administrator 

 

- 

  

1,326,417 

  

1,326,417 

Tuition benefit payments (11,230,838)  -  (11,230,838) 

Payments to employees -  (520,339)  (520,339) 

Payments to suppliers -  (508,934)  (508,934) 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating 

activities 

 

(11,006,995) 

  

297,144 

  

(10,709,851) 

      

Cash flows provided by noncapital 

financing activities 

     

Appropriations from primary government -  71,958  71,958 

      

Cash flows from investing activities      

Investment earnings 1,188,776  -  1,188,776 

Purchase of investments (1,184,700)  -  (1,184,700) 

Proceeds from sale of investments 12,700,000  -  12,700,000 

Net cash provided by investing activities 12,704,076  -  12,704,076 

      

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,697,081  369,102  2,066,183 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 800,530  1,734,239  2,534,769 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $        2,497,611  $     2,103,341  $     4,600,952 

 

 

(Continued on next page) 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Prepaid Tuition 

Trust Fund 

 College Prepaid 

Tuition and 

Savings Program 

Administrative 

Account 

  

 

 

Total Enterprise 

Funds 

Reconciliation of operating (loss) gain to net 

cash used in operating activities 

     

Operating (loss) gain $   (6,681,696)  $    427,749  $   (6,253,947) 

Adjustments to reconcile operating (loss) gain 

to net cash (used in) provided by operating 

activities: 

     

 Changes in assets and liabilities:      

Tuition contracts receivable 203,954  -  203,954 

Other receivables -  (2,845)  (2,845) 

Accounts payable -  54,042  54,042 

Accrued contract benefits liability (4,529,253)  -  (4,529,253) 

Accrued contract expense liability -  (167,755)  (167,755) 

Compensated absences -  3,730  3,730 

Other postemployment benefits -  11,104  11,104 

Net pension liability -  (28,881)  (28,881) 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating 

activities 

 

$   (11,006,995) 

  

$      297,144 

  

$   (10,709,851) 

      

Noncash activities      

Unrealized gain in investments $         854,804  $                 -  $         854,804 

Appropriations receivable from primary 

government 

 

$                    - 

  

$       73,207 

  

$          73,207 

      

(Concluded) 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Assets  

Investments at fair value $  2,265,287,374 

Receivables for units and securities sold 2,919,501 

Dividends receivable 211,949 

Total assets 2,268,418,824 

  

Liabilities  

Payables for units redeemed and securities purchased 2,534,190 

Accrued fees 1,051,662 

Total liabilities 3,585,852 

  

Net Position  

Held in trust for individuals and organizations 2,264,832,972 

Total net position $  2,264,832,972 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Additions  

Contributions:  

Account holders $     203,787,404 

Total contributions 203,787,404 

  

Investment earnings:  

Net decrease in fair value of investments (173,687,825) 

Dividends, capital gains and net realized gains 196,948,144 

Total investment gain 23,260,319 

Investment expense 6,072,944 

Net investment gain 17,187,375 

  

Total additions 220,974,779 

  

Deductions  

Redemptions:  

Payments in accordance with trust agreements 181,828,669 

Total redemptions 181,828,669 

Administrative expense 6,401,168 

  

Total deductions 188,229,837 

  

Change in net position held in trust for individuals and organizations 32,744,942 

Net position at beginning of year 2,232,088,030 

Net position at end of year $  2,264,832,972 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. Organization and Operations 

The West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program (the “Program”) operates under the West 

Virginia State Code Chapter 18, Article 30, West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Act (the 

“Act”). The Act was adopted by the West Virginia State Legislature in 1997. The Act was amended 

April 12, 2001, to continue the Prepaid Tuition Trust Fund (the “Prepaid Tuition Plan”), which operates as 

a plan, not a trust fund, and to enhance and complement the Prepaid Tuition Plan by authorizing the creation 

of the Savings Plan Trust Fund (the “Savings Plan”), which operates as a plan, not a trust fund.  

The Program is administered by the Office of the State Treasurer on behalf of the Program’s nine-member 

Board of Trustees (the “Board”). The purpose of the Program is to provide individuals and organizations 

the opportunity to prepay future college tuition and mandatory fees at West Virginia public and private 

colleges and universities and to offer a comprehensive state-sponsored college savings plan. Collectively, 

the Prepaid Tuition Plan and the Savings Plan are marketed as SMART529™ The College Savings 

Solution. The Board selected Hartford Life Insurance Company (“Hartford Life”) to provide records 

administration, cash management, and customer service for both the Prepaid Tuition Plan and the Savings 

Plan. Hartford Life also provides investment management services for the Savings Plan. 

All funds paid into or invested through the Program in the Prepaid Tuition Plan and the Savings Plan will 

be available for use at any two- or four-year college or university in the country, with refund and transfer 

options available. West Virginia state income tax deductions are available to state residents for 

contributions to the Program. Since the Program is an Internal Revenue Service Section 529 Qualified 

Tuition Program, earnings on the funds are federally tax deferred until used for college. Additionally, 

benefits of the Prepaid Tuition and Savings plans are exempt from federal income tax for qualified payouts.  

Enterprise Funds:  Prepaid Tuition Plan and Administrative Account 

Operations of the Prepaid Tuition Plan began in July 1997 with the initial enrollment period commencing 

on October 1, 1998, and ending January 31, 1999. The Prepaid Tuition Plan has sold approximately 9,730 

prepaid tuition contracts since inception. As mentioned earlier in this note, the Prepaid Tuition Plan is 

administered by the Office of the State Treasurer under the direction of the Program’s Board. Hartford Life 

provides records administration, cash management, and customer service for the Prepaid Tuition Plan, and 

provides investment management services for the Savings Plan. 

Effective March 8, 2003, the West Virginia Legislature closed the Prepaid Tuition Plan to new contracts 

until the Legislature authorizes the Prepaid Tuition Plan to reopen.  According to State Code (§18-30-6 

(g)), closing the Prepaid Tuition Plan to new contracts shall not mean that the Prepaid Tuition Plan is closed 

and shall not affect any contracts in effect on March 8, 2003. All contract holders will continue to pay any 

amounts due, including monthly installments, penalties and fees, and the Prepaid Tuition Plan will continue 

to pay all benefits due.  No contracts were sold in fiscal year 2015. 
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During fiscal year 2015, the board voted to close the Prepaid Tuition Plan on June 30, 2022. Any funds not 

distributed to account holders or beneficiaries who cannot be located at that time will be transferred to the 

West Virginia Unclaimed Property Division where the rightful owner can claim the funds at any time. The 

unclaimed funds will cease to be the responsibility of the Program. 

Contract payments of all Prepaid Tuition Plan participants are combined into a single investment fund in 

order to maximize benefits. The fund is invested in a professionally managed portfolio of stocks, bonds, 

and other types of investments through the West Virginia Investment Management Board (the “IMB”). 

Under State Code, the investments must be made with the care, skill, and prudence and diligence under the 

circumstances prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters 

would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims. Prepaid Tuition Plan 

investments shall be diversified to the extent permitted by law so as to minimize the risk of a large loss. 

Monies from the investment fund are used to pay Prepaid Tuition Plan benefits and expenses. 

When the beneficiary is accepted to an eligible college or university, the contract becomes redeemable. 

Benefits can be transferred to any fully accredited private or out-of-state college or university within the 

United States in an amount based on the weighted average cost of tuition and fees then charged by West 

Virginia public colleges and universities. However, there is no guarantee that the tuition benefit available 

will cover the actual cost of tuition and fees charged by the private or out-of-state institution. 

Under current policy effective January 1, 2015, the beneficiary has up to three years in addition to the years 

purchased to use his or her Prepaid Tuition Plan benefit.  For example, if a beneficiary has a plan for four 

years of benefits, he or she has seven years to exercise the benefits once the account matures.  If the plan is 

for two years of benefits, they must be exercised within five years once the account matures.  The other 

options available effective January 1, 2015 are: 1) at any time four years or more after the beneficiary’s 

expected college entrance date, the purchaser may request a refund of the contract benefit value, less a 

termination fee and an earnings penalty required by federal law; 2) at any time, the purchaser may cancel 

the contract and receive a refund of the contract value, less administrative fees and any benefits already 

paid; or 3) the purchaser may transfer the prepaid contract cancellation value at the time of transfer to the 

Program’s Savings Plan in accordance with state and federal regulations. Any funds not claimed before the 

exercise period ends will be transferred to the West Virginia Unclaimed Property Division where the 

rightful owner can claim the funds at any time. 

If the beneficiary is awarded a scholarship for tuition and fees, the benefit value of the contract will be paid 

in accordance with state and federal regulations. 

The College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program Administrative Account (the “Administrative Account”) 

was created by State Code to implement, operate and maintain the Prepaid Tuition and Savings Plans and 

the overall Program. Sources of funds for the Administrative Account come from fees charged to 

participants in both the Prepaid Tuition Plan and Savings Plan and from appropriations from the State, 

which is the primary government. Expenses of the Administrative Account cover administrative operations 

of the overall Program such as wages and benefits, consulting services, and office supplies. 
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The accompanying financial statements report the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows 

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, of the Program’s enterprise funds, which includes the Prepaid 

Tuition Plan and the Administrative Account. The Program’s enterprise funds are enterprise funds of the 

primary government of the State of West Virginia.  

Fiduciary Fund:  Savings Plan 

Beginning March 1, 2002, the Savings Plan has been available in conjunction with the Program’s Prepaid 

Tuition Plan. Investment options have been developed in partnership with Hartford Life. As mentioned 

earlier in this note, the Savings Plan is administered by the Office of the State Treasurer under the direction 

of the Program’s Board. Hartford Life provides records administration, cash management, investment 

management and customer service for the Savings Plan. 

The Savings Plan currently is composed of 54 different investment portfolios and individual funds.  These 

financial statements report on the total of all portfolios and individual funds. 

The Savings Plan is a fiduciary fund (private-purpose trust fund) of the primary government of the State of 

West Virginia. 

2. Significant Accounting Policies – Enterprise Funds 

Basis of Accounting 

As enterprise funds, the financial statements of the Prepaid Tuition Plan and Administrative Account are 

presented on the flow of economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis accounting in conformity 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Under this method of 

accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 

regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are 

financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises where the intent is that the costs 

of providing services to the general public and others on a continuing basis be financed or recovered 

primarily through user charges.  

The enterprise funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating. Operating revenues 

and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the enterprise funds’ principal 

ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues and expenses relate to tuition contract revenues, 

tuition contract benefits and expenses, and general and administrative expenses. Net investment earnings 

and appropriations from the State, which is the primary government, are reported as nonoperating revenues. 

It is the Program’s policy to first apply unrestricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for 

which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available.  

As a private-purpose trust fund, which is a type of fiduciary fund, assets of the Savings Plan are held in a 

trustee capacity for individuals and entities invested in the plan, and those assets cannot be used to support 

the Program.  Because the Savings Plan assets are not available to support the Program’s operations, the 

Savings Plan is discussed separately in Note 12 to these financial statements.  Assets of the Program’s 
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enterprise funds (the “Prepaid Tuition Plan” and the “Administrative Account”) are available to support the 

Program’s operations. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 

reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from 

management’s estimates. 

Budgetary Information 

The Office of the State Treasurer submits a detailed budgetary schedule of administrative expenses to the 

Budget Director of the West Virginia Department of Revenue prior to the beginning of each fiscal year. 

The budgetary schedule is prepared on the cash basis of accounting. Appropriation requests for the Program 

are included in the Treasurer’s schedule. The budgetary schedule is subject to the annual budget review and 

approval process of the West Virginia State Legislature. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents are short-term investments with maturities when acquired of 90 days or less. Cash and 

cash equivalents of the enterprise funds principally consist of interest-earning deposits in certain investment 

pools maintained by the IMB. Such funds are available to the Program with overnight notice. Earnings from 

these investments are distributed to investment pool participants based on their pro rata participation in the 

pools.  

Investments 

Investments are funds invested with the IMB.  The invested funds are used to pay contract benefits liabilities 

as they become due.  The intent of the investment allocation is to invest funds in the longest terms possible. 

The current maturity dates of such investments require that the investments be reported as noncurrent assets.  

However, investments will be liquidated, as needed, to cover current liabilities. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Plan recognizes revenue for tuition contracts in the year the contracts are entered into with the 

purchaser, with future contract payments being recognized at their present value.  The Plan uses its expected 

return on investments as the discount rate in calculating such present value.  A rate of 5.3% is assumed for 

the upcoming fiscal year 2016 through fiscal year 2017.  Declining rates are then assumed for each year 

through 2022 when the rate is assumed to be 2.3%.  Contracts receivable are reduced by the annual amounts 

of contract payments received, and the remaining contracts receivable is recorded at present value.  Changes 

in the present value of the remaining contracts receivable are recognized in revenue in the year of the 

change.  The Administrative Account records Savings Plan administrative fee revenue from Hartford Life 

in the period that administrative services are provided. 
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Tuition Contracts Receivable 

Tuition contracts receivable of the Prepaid Tuition Plan at the balance sheet date represents Program 

management’s best estimate of the present value of future contract payments using the discount rates 

discussed above. 

Accrued Contract Benefits Liability 

Accrued contract benefits liability of the Prepaid Tuition Plan is recorded at the actuarial present value of 

future tuition obligations. The valuation method reflects the present value of estimated tuition benefits that 

will be paid in future years and is adjusted for the effects of projected tuition and fee increases and 

termination of contracts. 

Compensated Absences, Including Other Postretirement Benefits 

Employees fully vest in all earned but unused annual leave to maximum amounts ranging from 240 to 320 

hours depending on years of service, and the Program accrues for obligations that may arise in connection 

with compensated absences for vacation at the current rate of employee pay. In accordance with personnel 

policies of the State, employees vest in any remaining unused sick leave only upon retirement, at which 

time any unused sick and annual leave time either can be converted into employer-paid premiums for post-

retirement health care coverage through the West Virginia Public Employees Insurance Agency (the 

“PEIA”), or can be converted into a greater retirement benefit under the State of West Virginia Public 

Employees Retirement System (the “PERS”). The Program accrues for other postretirement benefits that 

may arise in connection with unused sick leave that may be converted to employer-paid premiums for post-

retirement health care coverage, and for the employer portion of all post-retirement health care coverage 

regardless of whether the retiree has unused sick leave. 

Net Pension Liability, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Net pension liability represents the Program’s proportionate share of the net pension liability of the PERS 

as of the measurement date of June 30, 2015. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred 

outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension  expense, 

information about the fiduciary net position of the PERS and additions to/deductions from the PERS’s 

fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the PERS. For this 

purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and 

payable in accordance with the benefit terms. 

Restricted Assets and Net Position 

Restricted assets are subject to constraints imposed by creditors or by law. The Act restricts the Prepaid 

Tuition Plan’s assets to be used specifically for the Prepaid Tuition Plan’s obligations; however, the Prepaid 

Tuition Plan has a deficiency in net position as of June 30, 2015. Accordingly, such deficiency is included 

in the unrestricted net (deficit) position.  Assets of the Administrative Account are restricted for the 

purposes of implementing, operating and maintaining the Program. 
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Federal Income Taxes 

The Program has been designed to comply with the requirements for treatment as a qualified tuition program 

under Section 529 of the Internal Revenue Code.  Therefore, no federal income tax provision is required. 

Effect of New Accounting Pronouncements 

Beginning July 1, 2014, the Program adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (the “GASB”) 

Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an amendment of GASB Statement 

No. 27, which replaces the requirements of Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local 

Governmental Employers, as well as the requirements of Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they 

relate to pensions that are provided through pension plans administered as trusts or equivalent arrangements 

that meet certain criteria. Also beginning July 1, 2014, the Program adopted GASB Statement No. 71, 

Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date – an amendment of GASB 

Statement No. 68, which addresses an issue regarding application of the transition provisions of Statement 

No. 68. As a consequence of adopting the new standards, the Program was required to restate the net 

position of the Administrative Account as of July 1, 2014, to account for the cumulative effect of the change 

in accounting principle related to accounting for pensions.  The effect of the restatement was a decrease to 

beginning net position of the Administrative Account. See Note 6 to these financial statements. Also, the 

Statements require the Program to recognize its proportionate share of the net pension liability of the state’s 

pension plans. See Note 8 to these financial statements. 

 

The GASB has issued Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, which provides 

guidance for determining a fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes. This statement also 

provides guidance for applying fair value to certain investments and disclosures related to all fair value 

measurements. The provisions of this Statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning 

after June 15, 2015.  Program management has not determined the effect, if any, this statement will have 

on its financial statements. 

The GASB has issued three statements relating to accounting and financial reporting for pension and 

postemployment benefit plans: Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and 

Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions 

of GASB Statements 67 and 68; Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans 

Other Than Pension Plans; and Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 

Benefits Other Than Pensions.  The provisions of Statements No. 73 and 74 are effective for financial 

statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2016, and the provisions of Statement No. 75 are effective 

for periods beginning after June 15, 2017. Program management has not determined the effect, if any, this 

statement will have on its financial statements. 

The GASB has issued Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for 

State and Local Governments, which identifies the hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles 

used to prepare financial statements of state and local governments. This statement supersedes Statement 

No. 55, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State and Local Governments. The 

provisions of this Statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2015.  
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Program management has not determined the effect, if any, this statement will have on its financial 

statements. 

3. Investments and Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Program invests its enterprise funds in investment pools maintained by the IMB. The funds are invested 

in longer-term securities and subject to market fluctuations. Investments are reported by the IMB at fair 

value, which is the same as the value of the pool shares, and are accounted for by the Program accordingly, 

with changes in the fair value included in investment earnings. The earnings from these pooled investments 

are distributed to investment pool participants based on their pro rata participation in the pools.  

The following represents a calculation of the net increase in the fair value of investments during the year 

ended June 30, 2015: 

Fair value at end of year  $ 66,439,523 

Less cost of investments purchased during year (1,184,700) 

Plus cost of investments redeemed during year 12,700,000 

Less fair value at beginning of year (77,100,019) 

Change in fair value of investments during year  $ 854,804 

 

 

Investment and Deposit Risk Disclosures 

 

The Program has adopted an investment policy for the Prepaid Plan that mandates that investments shall 

be diversified so as to minimize the risk of large losses.  Under the investment policy, a long-term focus on 

investment results as well as prudent diversification across public security markets will be the primary risk 

control mechanisms. A prudently allocated investment program possesses a significant level of 

diversification, which results in risk reduction.  Diversification is considered in regard to asset classes, 

geography/country, industry, and maturity.  In order to preserve risk control, the Program has adopted a 

formal review schedule in which investment performance is reviewed at least quarterly, broad asset 

allocation and within-class asset allocation are reviewed every three years, and the Program’s investment 

policy is reviewed every year. 

 

The investment policy establishes that the Program’s enterprise funds are to be allocated 50.0% to fixed 

income securities, 27.5% to U.S. equities, and 22.5% to international equities for the fiscal years ended 

June 30, 2016-17.  The allocation will shift each year after that toward more fixed income securities to a 

total of 100% in fiscal year 2022.  At June 30, 2015, the Program’s enterprise funds were invested in the 

following pools at the IMB. 
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IMB Investment Pool 

Fair Value of 

Program’s 

Funds 

Percent of 

Total 

Investment 

 

Large Cap Domestic Equity 

 

$   16,023,280 

 

24.1% 

Non-Large Cap Domestic Equity 4,061,672 6.1% 

Core Fixed Income 34,434,000 51.8% 

International Equity 7,301,575 11.0% 

International Nonqualified 3,489,988 5.3% 

Short-Term Fixed Income 1,129,008 1.7% 

Total pool assets $  66,439,523 100.0% 

 

The investment policy does not specifically address custodial credit risk, credit risk, concentration of credit 

risk, interest rate risk, and foreign currency risk. 

 

Custodial Credit Risk 

 

The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a 

transaction, the Program will not be able to recover the value of investment or collateral securities that are 

in the possession of an outside party. The IMB investment pools in which the Program invests its enterprise 

funds were exposed to no or minimal custodial credit risk at June 30, 2015. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  

Neither the IMB nor its investment pools have been rated for credit risk by any organization.  The credit 

risks of the IMB investment pools in which the Program invests its enterprise funds are described as 

follows. 

 

Large Cap Domestic Equity Pool – This pool is exposed to credit risk from investments made with cash 

collateral for securities loaned. This risk is limited by requiring minimum ratings on debt instruments. 

Long-term debt instruments must be rated A or better by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s at the time of 

purchase. Short-term debt instruments must be rated P-1 by Moody’s or A-1 by Standard & Poor’s at the 

time of purchase. At June 30, 2015, total rated investments exposed to credit risk made up only 8.3% of the 

pool, while unrated investments in common stock, which are not exposed to credit risk, made up 91.7%. 

 

Non-Large Cap Domestic Equity Pool – This pool is exposed to credit risk from investments made with 

cash collateral for securities loaned. This risk is limited by requiring minimum ratings on debt instruments. 

Long-term debt instruments must be rated A or better by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s at the time of 

purchase. Short-term debt instruments must be rated P-1 by Moody’s or A-1 by Standard & Poor’s at the 

time of purchase. At June 30, 2015, total rated investments exposed to credit risk made up only 20.6% of 

the pool, while unrated investments in common stock, which are not exposed to credit risk, made up 79.4%. 

 

International Nonqualified Pool – This pool invests in a collective trust fund that invests in equities 

denominated in foreign currencies.   This pool is not exposed to credit risk. 
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International Equity Pool – This pool is exposed to credit risk from investments made with cash collateral 

for securities loaned. This risk is limited by requiring minimum ratings on debt instruments. Long-term 

debt instruments must be rated A or better by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s at the time of purchase. Short-

term debt instruments must be rated P-1 by Moody’s or A-1 by Standard & Poor’s at the time of purchase. 

At June 30, 2015, total rated investments exposed to credit risk made up only 6.1% of the pool, while 

unrated investments in common and preferred stock, which are not exposed to credit risk, made up 93.9%. 

 

Short-Term Fixed Income Pool – The IMB limits the exposure to credit risk in the Short-Term Fixed 

Income Pool by requiring all corporate bonds to be rated AA or higher.  Commercial paper must be rated 

A-1 by Standard & Poor’s and P-1 by Moody’s.  Additionally, the pool must have at least 15% of its assets 

in United States Treasury issues.  The following table provides information on the weighted average credit 

ratings of the pool’s investments at June 30, 2015.  The table includes U.S. Treasury notes received as 

collateral for a repurchase agreement. 

 

 

Security Type 

 

Moody’s 

 

S&P 

Percent of 

Pool Assets 

 

U.S. Treasury issues * 

 

Aaa 

 

AA 

 

41.0% 

Commercial paper Aaa AA 8.5% 

U.S. government agency issues * Aaa AA 50.5% 

Total rated investments   100.0% 

 

* Obligations of the U.S. government or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government are not considered to 

have credit risk and do not require disclosure of credit quality. The ratings are shown for the reader’s information. 

 

 

Core Fixed Income Pool – The IMB limits the exposure to credit risk in the Core Fixed Income Pool by 

maintaining at least an average rating of investment grade as defined by the Nationally Recognized 

Statistical Rating Organizations.  The following table provides information on the weighted average credit 

ratings of the Core Fixed Income Pool’s asset types at June 30, 2015.  The table includes investments 

received as collateral for repurchase agreements. 
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Security Type 

 

Moody’s 

 

S&P 

Percent of 

Pool Assets 

 

U.S. Treasury bonds * 

 

Aaa 

 

AA 

 

18.7% 

U.S. government agency CMO * Aaa AA 13.2 

U.S. government agency CMO interest-only * Aaa AA 0.6 

U.S. government agency CMO principal-only * Aaa AA 1.0 

U.S. corporate bonds A A 20.4 

U.S. government agency bonds * Aaa AA 2.0 

U.S. government agency MBS * Aaa AA 17.8 

U.S. Treasury inflation protected security * Aaa AA 0.0 

Corporate CMO A A 8.0 

Corporate CMO interest-only Ba AAA 0.1 

Corporate CMO principal-only B AA 0.0 

Corporate asset backed issues A A 7.0 

Foreign asset backed issues Aa AA 0.3 

Foreign corporate bonds A A 4.3 

Foreign government bonds Aa A 0.7 

Short-term issue Aaa AAA 3.8 

Preferred stock A A 0.0 

Time deposits P-1 A-1 0.6 

Municipal bonds Aa AA 0.8 

Total rated investments   99.3% 

 
* Obligations of the U.S. government or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government are not considered to 

have credit risk and do not require disclosure of credit quality.  The ratings are shown for the reader’s information. 

 

Unrated securities include common stock valued at 0.7% of the fair value of the Pool’s investments. 

 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Program’s investment in a 

single corporate issuer.  None of the IMB pools in which the Program participates held securities of any 

one issuer in excess of 5% of the value of the pools in accordance with West Virginia statutes and are not 

exposed to concentration of credit risk. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.  

The International Nonqualified Pool is not exposed to interest rate risk. The following pools are exposed 

to interest rate risk. 

 

Large Cap Domestic Equity Pool – This pool is exposed to interest rate risk from investments made with 

cash collateral for securities loaned. The weighted average maturity (the “WAM”) for investments made 

with cash collateral for securities loaned is not to exceed 90 days. The maturity of floating rate notes is 
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assumed to be the next interest reset date. The following table provides the WAM for the investments made 

with cash collateral for securities loaned as of June 30, 2015. 

 

 

Security Type 

Fair Value 

(In Thousands) 

WAM 

(Days) 

 

Repurchase agreements 

 

$  286,428 

 

1 

Asset backed issues  197 22 

Time deposits 137,472 1 

Total pool assets $  424,097     1 

 

 

Non-Large Cap Domestic Equity Pool – This pool is exposed to interest rate risk from investments made 

with cash collateral for securities loaned. The weighted average maturity WAM for investments made with 

cash collateral for securities loaned is not to exceed 90 days. The maturity of floating rate notes is assumed 

to be the next interest reset date. The following table provides the WAM for the investments made with 

cash collateral for securities loaned as of June 30, 2015. 

  

 

Security Type 

Fair Value 

(In Thousands) 

WAM 

(Days) 

 

Repurchase agreements 

 

$  217,169 

 

1 

Asset backed issues  149 22 

Time deposits 104,230 1 

Total pool assets $  321,548     1 

 

 

International Equity Pool – This pool is exposed to interest rate risk from investments made with cash 

collateral for securities loaned. The weighted average maturity WAM for investments made with cash 

collateral for securities loaned is not to exceed 90 days. The maturity of floating rate notes is assumed to 

be the next interest reset date. The following table provides the WAM for the investments made with cash 

collateral for securities loaned as of June 30, 2015. 

  

 

Security Type 

Fair Value 

(In Thousands) 

WAM 

(Days) 

 

Repurchase agreements 

 

$  142,698 

 

1 

Asset backed issues  97 22 

Time deposits 68,488 1 

Total pool assets $  211,283     1 

 

 

Short-Term Fixed Income Pool – The WAM of the investments in this pool is not to exceed 60 days.  The 

maturity of floating rate notes is assumed to be the next interest rate reset date.  The following table provides 

the WAM for the various asset types in the Short-Term Pool as of June 30, 2015. 
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Security Type 

Fair Value 

(In Thousands) 

WAM 

(Days) 

 

Repurchase agreements 

 

$     64,341 

 

1 

Commercial paper  22,999 19 

U.S. government agency issues 136,763 52 

U.S. Treasury issues 45,557 70 

Total pool assets $   269,660     40 

 

 

Core Fixed Income Pool – The IMB monitors interest rate risk of this pool by evaluating the effective 

duration of the investments in the pool.  The following table provides the weighted average effective 

duration for the various asset types in the pool as of June 30, 2015. 

 

 

 

Security Type 

 

Fair Value 

(In Thousands) 

Effective 

Duration 

(Years) 

 

U.S. Treasury bonds 

 

$     202,383 

 

7.2 

U.S. government agency CMO 144,364 3.7 

U.S. government agency CMO interest-only 6,919 7.6 

U.S. government agency CMO principal-only 10,501 7.4 

U.S. corporate bonds 222,273 6.1 

U.S. government agency MBS 188,831 4.8 

Corporate CMO 87,539 2.0 

Corporate CMO interest-only 1,198 (8.5) 

Corporate CMO principal-only 278 3.2 

Foreign asset backed issues 2,786 0.1 

Foreign corporate bonds 46,346 5.7 

Foreign government bonds 7,800 8.7 

U.S. Treasury inflation protected security 415 5.4 

Short-term issue 41,293 0.0 

Corporate asset backed issues 76,574 2.0 

U.S. government agency bonds 21,730 4.7 

Repurchase agreements 14,676 0.0 

Time deposits 7,044 0.0 

Municipal bonds 8,646 13.9 

Total pool assets $  1,091,596 4.8 

 

The Core Fixed Income Pool invests in commercial and residential mortgage-backed and asset-backed 

securities and collateralized mortgage obligations.  The cash flows from these securities are based on the 

payment of the underlying collateral.  The effective duration and yield to maturity of these securities are 

dependent on estimated prepayment assumptions that consider historical experience, market conditions, 

and other criteria.  Actual prepayments may vary with changes in interest rates.  Rising interest rates often 
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result in a slower rate of prepayments while declining rates tend to lead to faster prepayments.  As a result, 

the fair values of these securities are highly sensitive to interest rate changes.  At June 30, 2015, these 

securities were approximately 48.0% of the value of the Core Fixed Income Pool. 

 

Foreign Currency Risk 

 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 

investment or a deposit.  The following IMB pools in which the Program participates are exposed to no or 

minimal foreign currency risk:  Large Cap Domestic Equity Pool, Non-Large Cap Domestic Equity Pool, 

Short-Term Fixed Income Pool, and Core Fixed Income Pool.  The following pools are exposed to foreign 

currency risk. 

 

International Nonqualified Pool – This pool invests in a collective trust fund that invests in equities 

denominated in foreign currencies.  This investment, although denominated in U.S. dollars, is exposed to 

foreign currency risk through the underlying investments.   

 

International Equity Pool – This pool has both equity securities and cash that are denominated in foreign 

currencies and are exposed to foreign currency risk.   

 

Deposit Risk 

 

The carrying value in the Administrative Account of cash on deposit with the State Treasurer’s Office, 

which approximate estimated fair value, was $2,103,341 at June 30, 2015. The cash is pooled with other 

deposits from the State’s agencies, departments, boards and commissions and is subject to coverage by the 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) or collateralized by securities held by the State or its 

agents in the State’s name. Other cash deposits held in outside bank accounts were $2,497,611. Such 

deposits are insured by the FDIC or collateralized by the State or its agents in the State’s name.  Custodial 

credit risk in regard to deposits is the risk that in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, 

a government will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are 

in the possession of an outside party.  The Program does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk.  

Program management does not believe any of its deposits are exposed to custodial credit risk. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 

The Prepaid Plan indirectly holds derivative financial instruments by its participation in an investment pool 

at the IMB in which futures contracts are the only derivative financial instrument held in the pool and 

represent less than 0.4% of the total pool’s net asset value as of June 30, 2015.  As the Program does not 

hold any direct investments in derivative financial instruments, no further disclosure or consideration of 

their impact on the Prepaid Plan’s financial position and results of operations is required by Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative 

Instruments.   

4. Accrued Contract Benefits Liability 

The total actuarial present value of accrued contract benefits liability of $81,529,807 as of June 30, 2015, 

was based on the provision for contract benefits since inception of the Prepaid Tuition Plan. Current 
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liabilities of $16,542,226 represent obligations that will become due within a year from June 30, 2015. 

Noncurrent liabilities of $64,987,581 represent obligations that will become due more than a year after June 

30, 2015. 

Under the actuarial evaluation, tuition and fees are assumed to increase an average of 8.5% for the 2016-

17 school year and each year thereafter to the end of the Prepaid Tuition Plan on June 30, 2022. Investments 

are assumed to earn 5.3% for the years ending June 30, 2016-17. Declining rates are assumed for each year 

thereafter through 2022 when the rate is assumed to be 2.3%.   

The accrued contract benefits liability at June 30, 2015, and changes for the fiscal year then ended are as 

follows: 

Beginning balance, June 30, 2014 $  86,059,060 

Interest cost 4,504,844 

Actuarial gain (1,040,850) 

Miscellaneous factors (216,675) 

Changes in actuarial assumptions 4,373,692 

Changes in Prepaid Tuition Plan provisions (919,426) 

Tuition benefit payments and refunds (11,230,838) 

Ending balance, June 30, 2015  $  81,529,807 

 

The actuarial gain was the result of tuition increases for the 2015-16 school year being less than expected.  

Weighted average tuition had been assumed to increase 9.0% but instead increased 7.8%.  Changes in 

actuarial assumptions were not favorable because investment return projections were lowered to reflect the 

winding down of the Prepaid Tuition Plan and the corresponding shift of investment allocations to less risky 

fixed income securities, and the projection of annual tuition increases was increased for the long term. 

Changes in Prepaid Tuition Plan provisions were favorable and reflect policy changes made to affect the 

closing of the Plan on June 30, 2022. 

5. Tuition Contract Revenues and Tuition Contract Benefits and Expenses 

The tuition contract revenues and tuition contract benefits and expenses represent current revenues and 

expenses of the Prepaid Plan.  Such amounts are determined by the time value of money as a result of 

changes in actuarial assumptions year over year.  Because the Prepaid Plan is closed to new enrollments, 

the revenues and expenses related to such accounts are determined directly and solely by actuarial 

assumptions, estimations, and economic factors, such as the actuarial interest rate, tuition growth 

projections, account cancellations, economic inflation, beneficiaries’ choices of schools, and actual 

experience versus actuarial expectations.  In any given year, fluctuations in actuarial assumptions and/or 

actual experience can significantly change revenues and expenses, and, under certain circumstances, create 

negative revenues and expenses.  An actuarial gain in the accrued contract expense liability in the 

Administrative Account created negative tuition contract expenses for Fiscal Year 2015. 

The following represents components of tuition contract revenues and tuition contract benefits and 

expenses reported on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net (Deficit) Position for the 

Year Ended June 30, 2015: 
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Tuition contract revenues 
  

Actuarially estimated tuition contract revenues for Fiscal Year 2015 $      23,663 

Decrease in tuition contracts receivable due to miscellaneous factors during the year (3,774) 

Tuition contract revenues for Fiscal Year 2015 (an actuarial gain on tuition contracts 

receivable) $       19,889 

 

Tuition contract benefits 
  

Interest growth in actuarially estimated tuition contract benefits for Fiscal Year 2015 $  4,504,844  

Decrease in accrued contract benefits liability due to lower tuition growth than 

estimated for the 2015-16 school year (1,040,850) 

Increase in accrued contract benefits liability due to changes in various actuarial 

assumptions at June 30, 2015 4,373,692 

Decrease in accrued contract benefits liability due to changes in Prepaid Tuition Plan 

provisions (919,426) 

Decrease in accrued contract benefits liability due to miscellaneous factors (216,675)  

Tuition contract benefits for Fiscal Year 2015 (an actuarial loss on accrued contract 

benefits liability) $  6,701,585 

 

Tuition contract expenses 
  

Interest growth in actuarially estimated tuition contract expenses for Fiscal Year 2015 $       27,880                       

Decrease in accrued contract expense liability due to assumed actuarial payments 

during Fiscal Year 2015 (129,936) 

Decrease in accrued contract benefits liability due to changes in Prepaid Tuition Plan 

provisions and miscellaneous factors (65,699) 

Tuition contract expenses for Fiscal Year 2015 (an actuarial gain on accrued contract 

benefits liability) $     (167,755) 

 

6. Change in Accounting Principle and Restatement of Net Position 

As discussed in Note 2 to these financial statements, the Program adopted GASB Statement No. 68, 

Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, and GASB 

Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date – an 

amendment of GASB Statement No. 68 for fiscal year 2015.  As a consequence of adopting the new 

standards, the Program was required to restate the net position of the Administrative Account as of July 1, 

2014, to account for the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle related to accounting for 

pensions.  The effect of the restatement was a decrease to beginning net position of the Administrative 

Account as follows: 

 

Net position as reported June 30, 2014  $   995,737 

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    (213,483) 

Net position as restated June 30, 2014 $   782,254 

 



West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 
 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

 

34 

 

The decrease is the result of applying requirements of these Statements, which require state government 

employers to recognize their proportionate share of the net pension liability of the state’s pension plans as 

of the measurement date of June 30, 2014. 

7. Compensated Absences and Other Postemployment Benefits 

Compensated Absences 

The accruals for compensated absences represent obligations that may arise for earned but unused annual 

leave as of June 30, 2015.  Current liabilities of $63,751 represent obligations for compensated absences 

that can become due within a year from June 30, 2015.  

The accrued compensated absences liability at June 30, 2014, and changes for the fiscal year then ended 

are as follows: 

Beginning balance, June 30, 2014  $  60,021 

Addition:  Annual leave earned 38,111 

Reduction:  Annual leave used (33,855) 

Reduction: Decrease in employer 

contribution for fiscal year 2016 (526) 

Ending balance, June 30, 2015  $  63,751 

 

Other Postemployment Benefits Plan Description 

The State of West Virginia sponsors the West Virginia Other Postemployment Benefits Plan (the “OPEB 

Plan”), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit postemployment plan administered by the West 

Virginia Public Employees Insurance Agency (the “PEIA”), to provide medical benefits to retired state and 

local government employees.  Chapter 5, Article 16D of the West Virginia Code created the West Virginia 

Retiree Health Benefits Trust Fund (the “RHBT”) and assigns the authority to administer the plan to PEIA. 

The PEIA issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required 

supplementary information for the Trust. That report can be obtained by writing to PEIA, 1900 Kanawha 

Boulevard East, Charleston, WV 25305, or by calling (304) 558-7850. 

Other Postemployment Benefits Plan Funding Policy 

The State Code requires the OPEB Plan to bill the participating employers 100.0% of the Annual Required 

Contribution (“ARC”), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB 45.  

The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost 

each year and amortize any unfunded liabilities (or funding excess) of the plan over a period not to exceed 

thirty years.  State of West Virginia plan employers are billed per active health policy per month.  The latest 

OPEB actuarial valuation was performed as of June 30, 2014, and the ARC amounts were applied 

prospectively to the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2014. 
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The Program’s ARC to the OPEB Plan for the year ended June 30, 2015 was $23,340.  During the year, the 

Program paid $12,236 in ARC.  The remaining ARC amount of $11,104 was neither billed nor paid and is 

recorded as additional noncurrent other postemployment benefits liability as of June 30, 2015. 

8. Retirement Benefits 

General Information about the Retirement Plan 

Retirement Plan Description 

The Program contributes to the Public Employees Retirement System (the “PERS”), a cost-sharing 

multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the West Virginia Consolidated Public 

Retirement Board (the “CPRB”) pursuant to Chapter 5, Article 10D of the West Virginia Code. The CPRB 

issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary 

information for the PERS. That report can be obtained at the CPRB’s internet address 

http://www.wvretirement.com/ or by writing to CPRB, 4101 MacCorkle Avenue Southeast, 

Charleston,WV 25304. 

Benefits Provided 

The PERS provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.  

Qualification for normal retirement is age 60 with five years of service or at least age 55 with age and 

service equal to 80 or greater. The straight-life annuity retirement benefit is equivalent to 2% of average 

salary multiplied by years of service. Average salary is the average of the three consecutive highest annual 

earnings out of the last fifteen years of earnings. Terminated members with at least five years of contributory 

service who do not withdraw their accumulated contributions may elect to receive their retirement annuity 

beginning at age 62. 

Disability benefits shall not be less than 50% of a member’s FAS. At age 65 the benefit is calculated on 

actual years of service and may be reduced, but the straight life benefit or equivalent may not be less than 

20% of FAS. 

For death benefits, the PERS members may select beneficiary options based only upon the specific category 

that describes his or her particular circumstance at the time a beneficiary form is completed (i.e., date of 

hire, years of service and marital status). 

Contributions 

The PERS is funded by employee and employer contributions. Per Chapter 5, Article 10, employees 

contribute 4.5% of annual earnings. Until June 30, 2015, the employer contributed 14.0% of the employee’s 

gross monthly salary. Effective July 1, 2015, the employer will contribute 13.5% of the employee’s gross 

monthly salary. Contributions as a percentage of payroll for employees are established by statutes, subject 

to legislative limitations and are not actuarially determined. Contributions as a percentage of payroll for 

employers are established by the CPRB. The employee and employer contributions are annually reviewed 

http://www.wvretirement.com/
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to assure that they result in actuarially sound funding for the PERS. The Program’s contribution to the 

PERS was $38,263 for the year ended June 30, 2015. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 

Resources Related to Pensions 

At June 30, 2015, the Program reported a liability of $93,793 for its proportionate share of the PERS net 

pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2014, and the total pension liability 

used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The 

Program’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the Program’s long-term 

share of contributions to the PERS relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, 

actuarially determined. At June 30, 2014, the Program’s proportion was 0.0254%, which was a decrease 

from its proportion of 0.0288% as of June 30, 2013. 

For the year ended June 30, 2015, the Program recognized pension expense of $9,382. At June 30, 2015, 

the Program reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 

from the following sources: 

 Deferred 

Outflows of 

Resources 

 Deferred 

Inflows of 

Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience $           -       $            - 

Changes of assumptions -   

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension 

plan investments -  99,220 

Changes in proportion and differences between Program 

contributions and proportionate share of contributions -  29,852 

Program contributions subsequent to the measurement date 38,263  - 

Total $  38,263  $ 129,072 

 

The $38,263 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from Program 

contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 

liability in the year ended June 30, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related 

to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year ended June 30:  

2016 $  26,835 

2017 26,835 

2018 26,835 

2019 26,835 

2020 21,732 
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Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2014 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 

assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Inflation 2.2% 

Salary increases 4.25 – 6.0% 

Investment rate of return 7.5% 

 

Mortality rates were based on mortality tables as follows: 

 Healthy males: 1983 GAM male 

 Healthy females: 1971 GAM female, set back 1 year 

 Disabled males: 1971 GAM male, set forward 8 years 

 Disabled females: Revenue Ruling 96-7 disabled female table 

Experience studies are performed at least once in every five-year period. The valuation was prepared on 

the basis of assumptions that were recommended to and adopted by the CPRB Board on the basis of an 

experience study covering the period from July 1, 2004, to June 30, 2009. These assumptions will remain 

in effect for valuation purposes until such time as the CPRB Board adopts revised assumptions. 

The long-term rates of return on pension plan investments were determined using the building block method 

in which estimates of expected real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense 

and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-

term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 

allocation percentages and by adding expected inflation. Rates summarized in the following table include 

the inflation component and were used for all defined benefit plans: 
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Asset Class  

Target 

Allocation  

Long-Term 

Expected Rate 

of Return 

US equity (Russell 3000)  27.5%  7.6% 

International equity (ACWI ex US)  27.5  8.5 

Core fixed income *  15.0  2.9 

High yield fixed income *  -  4.8 

TIPS  -  2.9 

Real estate  10.0  6.8 

Private equity  10.0  9.9 

Hedge funds  10.0  5.0 

Inflation (CPI)  -  2.2 

Cash **  -  0.0 

Total  100.0%   

* Allocation of 15.0% is for total fixed income. 

** Cash is included in fixed income. 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5%. The projections of cash flows used 

to determine the discount rates assumed that employer contributions will continue to follow the current 

funding policies. Based on those assumptions, the fiduciary net position of the pension plan was projected 

to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-

term expected rates of return on pension plan investments were applied to all periods of projected benefit 

payments to determine the total pension liabilities. 

Sensitivity of the Program’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 

Rate 

The following presents the Program’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 

discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what the Program’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would 

be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.5%) or 1-percentage-point 

higher (8.5%) than the current rate: 
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 1% 

Decrease 

(6.5%)  

Discount 

Rate 

(7.5%)  

1% 

Increase 

(8.5%) 

Program’s proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 265,028  $ 93,793  $ (52,114) 

 

PERS Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the PERS fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued CPRB 

comprehensive annual financial report. 

9. Transactions with State Treasurer’s Office 

The State Treasurer’s Office provides various administrative services at no cost to the Program and pays 

certain administrative costs on behalf of the Program. Such administrative services and costs were not 

determinable for the year ended June 30, 2015 because they were blended in with the overall operations of 

the State Treasurer’s Office. 

10. Risk Management 

The Program is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 

assets; errors and omissions; injuries to and illnesses of employees; and natural disasters. 

The Program has obtained health coverage for its employees through PEIA. PEIA provides the following 

basic employee benefit coverage to all participants: hospital, surgical, group major medical, basic group 

life, accidental death, and prescription drug coverage for active and retired employees of the State of West 

Virginia and various related State and non-State agencies. Additionally, the Program has obtained coverage 

for job-related injuries through its participation in the private, employer-owned mutual insurance company 

BrickStreet Insurance.  There have been no workers’ compensation claims since the inception of the 

Program.  

Furthermore, the Program uses the West Virginia State Board of Risk and Insurance Management, which 

provides a public entity risk pool, to obtain coverage in the amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence for general 

liability and property damage. There have been no claims since the inception of the Program. 

11. Net position Deficiency 

The Prepaid Tuition Plan has a net position deficiency of approximately $12,262,153 as of June 30, 2015. 

This deficiency was largely caused by investment losses in fiscal years 2002, 2008 and 2009, unexpected 

tuition increases in the 2002-2003 and 2004-2005 school years, changes in prior years of estimates of future 

investment rate of return and tuition growth, and significant adjustments in actuarial assumptions in fiscal 

year 2008. Although the Prepaid Tuition Plan was on the road to recovery from the impact of those past 

economic events, the deficit grew in fiscal year 2015 primarily because of actuarial losses related to 

investment performance being less than projected, and because of changes in actuarial assumptions in fiscal 

year 2015 related to projected high tuition increases for the next seven years. 
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The Program’s ability to pay obligations of the Prepaid Tuition Plan is dependent on long-term investment 

programs and adequate levels of future cash flows.  Management sought and received support from the 

State Legislature in the form of a pledge of assets from the State Unclaimed Property Trust Fund to support 

payment of Prepaid Tuition Plan benefits. In March 2003, the Legislature created the Prepaid Tuition Trust 

Escrow Account to guarantee payment of Prepaid Tuition Plan contracts. Under the legislation, the Escrow 

Account will receive transfers of $1,000,000 from the State Unclaimed Property Trust Fund each year there 

is an actuarially determined unfunded liability of the Prepaid Tuition Plan.  An additional one-time transfer 

of $8,000,000 from the Unclaimed Property Trust Fund was authorized for July 2009.  All earnings on the 

transferred funds will remain in the Escrow Account. In the event the Prepaid Tuition Plan is unable to 

cover the amount of money needed to meet its current obligations, funds may be withdrawn from the Escrow 

Account to meet those obligations.  The independent actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015 estimates that 

the Prepaid Tuition Plan will exhaust its investment funds during fiscal year 2022 and will then need to 

begin drawing from the Escrow Account to pay its obligations.  

Beginning in December 2003, funds totaling $17,254,008 have been transferred to the Escrow Account 

because the Prepaid Tuition Plan had actuarial deficits in fiscal years 2003-14.  The funds were invested 

and have had a net investment gain of $1,283,077 for the twelve years ended June 30, 2015, leaving the 

account with a balance of $18,537,085 at June 30, 2015.  There was $1,000,000 transferred in fiscal year 

2015 because of the actuarial unfunded liability at the end of fiscal year 2014.  Because there was an 

actuarially determined unfunded liability of $12,262,153 in the Prepaid Tuition Plan as of June 30, 2015, 

an additional $1,000,000 is expected to be transferred from the Unclaimed Property Trust Fund to the 

Escrow Account on or before December 15, 2015, in accordance with the provisions enacted by the 

Legislature. Funds transferred or to be transferred into the Escrow Account do not affect the actuarial 

valuation of the Prepaid Tuition Plan and are not included in the Prepaid Tuition Plan’s basic financial 

statements.  The State reports the Escrow Account in the general fund in its financial statements as 

unrestricted cash. 

Effective March 8, 2003, the West Virginia Legislature closed the Prepaid Tuition Plan to new contracts.  

According to State Code (§18-30-6 (g)), closing the plan to new contracts shall not mean that the Prepaid 

Tuition Plan is closed and shall not affect any contracts in effect on March 8, 2003.  Contract holders will 

continue to pay any amounts due, and the Prepaid Tuition Plan will continue to pay all benefits due.  

During fiscal year 2015, the board voted to close the Prepaid Tuition Plan on June 30, 2022. Any funds not 

distributed to account holders or beneficiaries who cannot be located at that time will be transferred to the 

West Virginia Unclaimed Property Division where the rightful owner can claim the funds at any time. The 

unclaimed funds will cease to be the responsibility of the Program. If at any time on or before June 30, 

2022, the Prepaid Tuition Plan should exhaust its funds, any funds needed to pay benefits and terminations 

will be drawn from the Escrow Account. Once the Prepaid Tuition Plan is terminated and all rightful 

unclaimed funds are transferred out of the Program, the Escrow Account will be dissolved and all remaining 

funds in the account will be transferred to the State. 

Management believes that the Prepaid Tuition Plan will continue to have sufficient liquid resources to meet 

its obligations as they become due through June 30, 2016. The accompanying financial statements do not 

reflect any adjustments that might result should management’s actions to eliminate the net position 

deficiency fail to be successful. 
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12. Significant Accounting Policies - Savings Plan 

Basis of Accounting 

As a fiduciary fund, the Savings Plan’s financial statements are presented on the flow of economic resources 

measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. As mentioned in Note 2, the Savings Plan is a 

private-purpose trust fund, which is a type of fiduciary fund.  Fiduciary funds are used to report assets held 

in a trustee or agency capacity for others and therefore cannot be used to support a government’s own 

programs. A private-purpose trust fund is a fiduciary fund used to report all trust arrangements, other than 

pension (and other employee benefit) trust funds and investment trust funds, under which principal and 

income benefit individuals, private organizations, or other governments.  Revenues mainly are derived from 

investment income. Expenses consist primarily of investment expenses and administrative costs associated 

with the Savings Plan. 

Security Transactions and Investment Income 

Security transactions of the Savings Plan are recorded on the trade date (date the order to buy or sell is 

executed). Dividend income and capital gain distribution from the underlying funds, if any, are recorded 

on the ex-dividend date. Realized gains and losses on securities transactions are computed on the basis of 

identified cost. 

Security Valuation 

Investments in the underlying funds are valued at the closing net asset value per share of each underlying 

fund on the day of valuation. 

The Savings Plan contains a guaranteed investment contract named the SMART529 Stable Value Fund.  

This fund is managed by INVESCO International.  The contract has a guaranteed interest rate that resets 

quarterly.  Following the guidance and provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 

31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools, the 

guaranteed investment contract is a nonparticipating contract in which the redemption terms of the contract 

do not consider current market rates. The nonparticipating guaranteed investment contract is valued at 

contract value (i.e., cost plus accrued interest) as required under the current governmental accounting 

standards. 

Units 

Contributions by a participant are evidenced through the issuance of units in the particular portfolio or fund. 

Contributions and withdrawals are subject to terms and limitations defined in the participation agreement 

between the participant and the Savings Plan. Contributions are invested in units of the assigned portfolio 

or fund on the same day as the credit of the contribution to the participant’s account.  Withdrawals are based 

on the unit value calculated for such portfolio or fund on the day that the withdrawal request is accepted. 

The earnings portion of non-qualified withdrawals, in addition to applicable federal and state income tax, 

may be subject to a 10% non-qualified withdrawal penalty to be withheld from the withdrawal. 
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Expenses  

Expenses in the Savings Plan financial statements reflect investment management fees, and distribution and 

administrative charges. 

Investments 

Hartford Life invests and manages the Savings Plan investments in 54 different portfolios.  Each portfolio, 

in turn, is either a mutual fund or contains multiple mutual funds.  Except for the SMART529 Stable Value 

Fund, investments are reported at fair value, which is the same as the value of the pool shares, and are 

accounted for by the Savings Plan accordingly, with changes in the fair value included in investment 

earnings.  The SMART529 Stable Value Fund is a synthetic guaranteed investment contract, which is a 

form of derivative instrument as defined by GASB, and accordingly is reported at contract value in 

accordance with GASB standards. Changes in contract value are included in investment earnings.  The fair 

value and the contract value of the SMART529 Stable Value Fund as of June 30, 2015 are as follows: 

 Fair Value  Contract Value 

Underlying investments $ 339,273,001  $ 332,065,401 

Wrap contract -  - 

Total SMART529 Stable Value Fund $ 339,273,001  $ 332,065,401 

 

Various portfolios include the SMART529 Stable Value Fund as part of their families of underlying 

investments.  Additionally, the SMART529 Direct Stable Value Fund and The Hartford SMART529 Stable 

Value Fund are standalone investment options that contain only the SMART529 Stable Value Fund. 

The following represents a calculation of the net increase in the fair value of investments during the year 

ended June 30, 2015: 

Fair value at end of year $ 2,265,287,374 

Less cost of investments purchased during year (395,263,576) 

Plus cost of investments redeemed during year 187,723,996 

Less fair value at beginning of year (2,231,435,619) 

Change in fair value of investments during year $    (173,687,825) 

 

The Program has adopted an investment policy for the Savings Plan that requires blended benchmarks for 

the various funds and portfolios.  While the diversified benchmarks represent the diversification of the 

funds and portfolios – and diversification in general results in risk reduction – the investment policy does 

not specifically address custodial credit risk, credit risk, concentration credit risk, interest rate risk or 

foreign currency risk.  Investments in the Savings Plan represent units of mutual funds rather than specific 

securities, and as such are not exposed to those risks.  Neither the Program, the Savings Plan, nor the funds 

and portfolios have been rated for credit risk by any organization. 
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Related Parties and Fund Managers and Advisors 

SMART529 WV Direct College Savings Plan  The Vanguard Group, Inc. (“Vanguard”), through its 

Equity Investment Group, serves as the investment adviser to all of the underlying funds, except for the 

SMART529 Stable Value Fund, which is managed by Invesco Advisers, Inc. (“Invesco”). Hartford Funds 

Management Company, LLC (“HFMC”), which is a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of The Hartford, is 

the principal underwriter and distributor for the plan. 

The Hartford SMART529 College Savings Plan  All of the underlying funds except the SMART529 

Stable Value Portfolio and the MFS Global Equity Fund are managed by HFMC.  The SMART529 Stable 

Value portfolio is managed by Invesco. Massachusetts Financial Services Company is the investment 

advisor for the MFS Global Equity Fund. 

Wellington Management Company, LLP (“Wellington Management”)  is investment sub-advisor to The 

Hartford Total Return Bond Fund, The Hartford Inflation Plus Fund, The Hartford High Yield Fund, The 

Hartford Capital Appreciation Fund, The Hartford Small Cap Growth Fund, The Hartford MidCap Fund, 

The Hartford MidCap Value Fund, The Hartford Dividend and Growth Fund, The Hartford Growth 

Opportunities Fund, The Hartford Small Company Fund, The Hartford Equity Income Fund, The Hartford 

International Opportunities Fund, The Hartford International Small Company Fund, The Hartford Global 

Real Asset Fund, The Hartford Global All Asset Fund, The Hartford Emerging Markets Research Fund, 

The Hartford Balanced Income Fund, The Hartford Strategic Income Fund, The Hartford Unconstrained 

Bond Fund, and The Hartford World Bond Fund. 

SMART529 Select College Savings Plan  Dimensional Fund Advisors Inc. is investment advisor to the 

underlying DFA portfolios in the SMART529 Select College Savings Plan.  

Hartford Life and the West Virginia State Treasurer’s Office provide administrative services. 
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Schedule of the West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program’s 

Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability of the West Virginia Public 

Employees Retirement System 

 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2014 

 
 
 
Program’s proportion of the net pension liability 0.0254% 

 

Program’s proportionate share of the net pension liability $  93,793 

 

Program’s covered-employee payroll $  428,032 

 

Program’s proportionate share of net pension liability as a percentage of its covered-

employee payroll 21.91% 

 

Public Employees Retirement System net position as a percentage of the total pension 

liability 94.23% 

 
 
 
 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (the “GASB”) Statement No. 68, Accounting and 

Financial Reporting for Pensions—an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, requires 10 years of historical 

trend information to be included in the Schedule of the West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings 

Program’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability of the Public Employees Retirement System 

(the “PERS”). Due to changes in actuarial methods and assumptions related to the PERS’s implementation 

of GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 

2014, historical trend information at PERS is not readily available for prior fiscal years and consequently 

is not presented. Historical trend information on the following page regarding the Program’s contributions 

to PERS is available from the Program’s records. 
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Schedule of the West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program’s Contributions to 

the West Virginia Public Employees Retirement System 

 

Last 10 Fiscal Years 

 

 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Contractually required contribution 38,263$   49,346$   54,023$   53,872$   38,011$   33,098$   34,217$   24,296$   21,454$   20,441$   

Contributions in relation to the contractually 

required contribution (38,263)    (49,346)    (54,023)    (53,872)    (38,011)    (33,098)    (34,217)    (24,296)    (21,454)    (20,441)    

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$          -$          -$          -$          -$          -$          -$          -$          -$          -$          

Program's covered-employee payroll 415,043$ 428,032$ 450,816$ 469,093$ 301,283$ 295,960$ 327,345$ 242,688$ 205,566$ 194,679$ 

Contributions as a percentage of covered-

employee payroll 9.22% 11.53% 11.98% 11.48% 12.62% 11.18% 10.45% 10.01% 10.44% 10.50%

Fiscal Year Ended June 30
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Other Financial Information 

 
The following information is presented for the purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of 

the financial statements of the Program.  This section shows selected financial information of the Program 

required by the State of West Virginia’s Financial Accounting and Reporting Section for use in preparing 

the State’s comprehensive annual financial report.  
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  Enterprise Funds of the 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

 

Deposits Disclosure 

 

Form 7 

 

June 30, 2015 

 

 
  

Carrying 

Amount 

Restricted 

Carrying 

Amount 

Total 

Carrying 

Amount 

  

Bank 

Balance 

  

Insured 

Amount 

 

Collateralized 

Amount 

 

Uncollateralized 

Amount 

          

Cash with Treasurer  $2,497,611 $             - $2,497,611  $             -  $            - $                - $                   - 

Cash in outside bank 

account 

 

-  

 

- 

 

-   

  

2,103,341 

  

2,103,341 

 

- 

 

- 

Total  $2,497,611 $             - $2,497,611 (1) $2,103,341 (1) $2,103,341 $                - $                   - 

 

(1) Agrees to audited statement of net (deficit) position as follows: 

  

Cash with Treasurer $  2,497,611 

Cash in outside bank account managed by Hartford Life 2,103,341 

 $  4,600,952 
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Enterprise Funds of the 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

 

Investments Disclosure 

 

Form 8 

 

June 30, 2015 

 

 
  

 

Amount 

Unrestricted 

  

 

Reported 

Amount 

  

 

 

Fair Value 

 Investment 

Earnings (Loss) 

Not Posted to 

OASIS as of 

6/30/15 

        

West Virginia Investment Manage-

ment Board Investment Pool: 

       

Short-term Fixed Income Pool  $ 1,129,008   $ 1,129,008   $ 1,129,008   $ 14 

Core Fixed Income Pool 34,434,000  34,434,000  34,434,000  (267,837) 

Large Cap Domestic Pool 16,023,280  16,023,280  16,023,280  (372,360) 

Non-large Cap Domestic Pool 4,061,672  4,061,672  4,061,672  (74,578) 

International Nonqualified Pool 3,489,988  3,489,988  3,489,988  (75,606) 

International Equity Pool 7,301,575  7,301,575  7,301,575  (176,729) 

Total investments  $ 66,439,523 (1)  $ 66,439,523 (1)  $ 66,439,523 (1) (967,096) 

Interest earnings on outside bank account managed by Hartford Life   4,075 

  $   (963,021) 

 

(1) Agrees to the audited statement of net (deficit) position. 
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Enterprise Funds of the 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

 

Deposits and Investments Disclosure 

 

Form 8A 

 

June 30, 2015 

 

 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and investments as reported in the financial statements to the 

amounts disclosed in the footnote: 

Deposits   

Cash and cash equivalents as reported on statement of net 

(deficit) position 

  

  $ 4,600,952 

 

(1) 

Less cash equivalents disclosed as investments -  

Carrying amount of deposits as disclosed on Form 7  $ 4,600,952  

   

Investments   

Investments as reported on statement of net (deficit) 

position 

  

$ 66,439,523 

 

(1) 

Add cash equivalents disclosed as investments -  

Reported amount of investments as disclosed on Form 8  $ 66,439,523  

 

 

 

 

(1) Agrees to the audited statement of net (deficit) position. 
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Enterprise Funds of the 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

 

Schedules of Receivables (Other than State Agencies) 

 

Form 9 

 

June 30, 2015 

 

 

Total accounts receivable as of June 30, 2015  $ 442,705  

Less allowance for doubtful accounts   -  

Net receivable  $ 442,705 (1) 

   

Net amount not expected to be collected within one year  $ 259,212 (1) 

 

 

 

(1) Derived from the audited statement of net (deficit) position, as follows: 

 

Current assets:     

Tuition contracts receivable $        147,027  

Other receivables 112,185  

 259,212  

Noncurrent assets: Tuition contracts receivable   183,493  

Total accounts receivable as of June 30, 2015  $  442,705  

 



 

55 

Enterprise Funds of the 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

 

 Schedule of Accounts Receivable from Other State Agencies 

 

Form 10 

 

June 30, 2015 

 

 

Receivable From Agency Name 

Gross  

Amount 

Allowance for 

Doubtful 

Accounts 

Net  

Amount 

    

Primary government (general fund)  $ 23,375         $     -    $ 23,375 (1) 

    

Total  $ 23,375  $   -  $  23,375 

 

 

 

(1) Derived from audited statement of net (deficit) position. 
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Enterprise Funds of the 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

 

Changes in Long-Term Obligations—Compensated Absences & Other 

Postemployment Benefits 

 

Form 13 

 

June 30, 2015 

 

 

Type of Debt 

Final 

Maturity 

Date 

Balance as 

Reported 

June 30, 2014 

 

Debt 

Issued 

 

 

Debt Paid 

 

Other 

Changes 

 

Balance 

June 30, 2015 

       

Compensated absences Unknown $  60,021 $  38,111 $  (33,855) $   (526) $  63,751 (1) 

 

 

(1) Derived from the audited statement of net (deficit) position, as follows: 

 

Current liabilities: compensated absences   $  63,751 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Type of Debt 

Final 

Maturity 

Date 

Balance as 

Reported 

June 30, 2014 

 

Debt 

Issued 

 

 

Debt Paid 

 

Balance 

June 30, 2015 

      

Other postemployment 

benefits 

 

Unknown 

 

$  198,691 

 

$  23,340 

 

$  (12,236) 

 

$  209,795 (2) 

 

 

(2) Derived from the audited statement of net (deficit) position, as follows: 

 

Noncurrent liabilities: Other postemployment benefits  $  209,795 
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Enterprise Funds of the 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

 

Transfers In/Out 

 

Form 15 

 

June 30, 2015 

 

 

Appropriations of $73,207 were approved during the regular legislative session in 2014 from the general 

revenue fund to the State Treasurer’s Office to be expended for the administration of the Prepaid Tuition 

Plan in Fiscal Year 2015. 
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Fiduciary (Private-Purpose Trust) Fund of the 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

 

Investments Disclosure 

 

Form 8 

 

June 30, 2015 

 

 

  

 

Amount 

Restricted 

  

 

Reported 

Amount 

  

 

 

Fair Value 

 

       

Investments with Hartford Life   $ 2,265,287,374  (1)   $ 2,265,287,374  (1)  $ 2,272,494,974 (2) 

 

(1) Agrees to the audited statement of fiduciary net position. 

 

(2)  The reported amount includes the SMART529 Stable Value Fund, which is reported at contract value 

of $332,065,401.  The fund is a synthetic guaranteed investment contract, which is a form of a 

derivative instrument, and its fair value is $339,273,001, which is included in the total fair value 

amount. 
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 Fiduciary (Private-Purpose Trust) Fund of the 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

 

Schedules of Receivables (Other than State Agencies) 

 

Form 9 

 

June 30, 2015 

 

 

Total accounts receivable as of June 30, 2015  $ 3,131,450  

Less allowance for doubtful accounts   -  

Net receivable  $ 3,131,450 (1) 

   

Net amount not expected to be collected within one year  $ - (1) 

 

 

 

(1) Derived from the audited statement of fiduciary net position, as follows: 

 

Receivables for units and securities sold $   2,919,501  

Dividend receivables 211,949  

  $  3,131,450  

 

  



 

Member of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based 

on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 

 

The Board of Trustees 

West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program 

Charleston, West Virginia 

 

We have audited the financial statements of business-type activities of the enterprise funds and the fiduciary 

fund of the West Virginia College Prepaid Tuition and Savings Program (the “Program), as of and for the 

year ended June 30, 2015, which collectively comprise the Program’s basic financial statements as listed in 

the table of contents, and have issued our report thereon dated October 30, 2015 (which expresses an 

unqualified opinion and includes explanatory paragraphs relating to management’s estimate of the fair value 

of investments and planned closing of the Prepaid Program). We conducted our audit in accordance with 

the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 

financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the 

United States.  

 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting   
 

Management of the Program is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 

financial reporting. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Program’s internal control 

over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the Program’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Program’s internal control over financial reporting.  

 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 

or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 

misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 

internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 

financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 

deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 

material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 

exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies 

in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist 

that have not been identified.   

 

 

 

Deloitte & Touche LLP 
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Jericho, NY 11753-1683 
USA 
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Compliance and Other Matters  
 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Program’s financial statements are free from 

material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 

contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 

determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 

provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 

results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 

under Government Auditing Standards.  

 

Purpose of this Report  
 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 

and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Program’s internal 

control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards in considering the Program’s internal control and compliance. 

Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

October 30, 2015 


